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Yosef Peretz (SBN 209288) 
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Kelsi Lerner (SBN 328344) 
PERETZ & ASSOCIATES 
22 Battery Street, Suite 202 
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Telephone:  415.732.3777 
Facsimile:  415.732.3791 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff GARY JOHNSON 

 

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO 

 

GARY JOHNSON, individual and 

derivatively on behalf of GREENSPAN 

ADJUSTERS INTERNATIONAL, INC., a 

corporation, and ADJUSTERS 

INTERNATIONAL PACIFIC 

NORTHWEST, INC., a corporation,  

 

 

    Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

GREENSPAN ADJUSTERS 

INTERNATIONAL, INC.; ADJUSTERS 

INTERNATIONAL PACIFIC 

NORTHWEST, INC.; GORDON SCOTT, 

III; STEVE SEVERAID; PAUL MIGDAL; 

JAMES WARREN; CLAY GIBSON; 

DREW LUCURELL; CHRIS LUCURELL; 

and DOES 1 through 20, inclusive, 

 

    Defendants. 

Case No. CGC-20-583239 

 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AND 

DEMAND FOR A JURY TRIAL 

 

1. Age Discrimination in Violation of the 

FEHA; 

2. Disability Discrimination in Violation of 

the FEHA; 

3. Failure to Accommodate a Disability in 

Violation of the FEHA; 

4. Failure to Engage in a Good Faith 

Interactive Process of Disability 

Accommodation in Violation of the FEHA; 

5. Failure to Prevent Discriminatory and 

Retaliatory Practices in Violation of FEHA; 

6. Retaliation in Violation of FEHA; 

7. Retaliation in Violation of Labor Code § 

98.6; 

8. Wrongful Termination in Violation of 

Public Policy;  

9. Breach of Contract; 

10. Failure to Pay Wages in Violation of the 

Labor Code; 

11. Failure to Pay All Necessary Expenditures 

in Violation of Labor Code § 2802 
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12. Failure to Pay Earned Wages Upon 

Discharge in Violation of Labor Code § 

203;  

13. Failure to Furnish Timely and Accurate 

Wage Statements in Violation of Labor 

Code § 226;  

14. Abuse of Control; 

15. Breach of Fiduciary Duty; 

16. Breach of Duty of Care; 

17. Breach of Duty of Loyalty; 

18. Involuntary Dissolution of a California 

Corporation; 

19. Unjust Enrichment; 

20. Accounting of Corporation; and 

21. Unfair, Unlawful, and/or Fraudulent 

Business Practices in Violation of Business 

and Professions Code § 17200, et seq. 
  

 Plaintiff GARY JOHNSON (“Johnson”), individually and derivatively on behalf of 

GREENSPAN ADJUSTERS INTERNATIONAL, INC. (“Greenspan”) and ADJUSTERS 

INTERNATIONAL PACIFIC NORTHWEST, INC. (“AIPNW”), allege as follows: 

I. INTRODUCTION 

1. This is an action brought by Johnson, individually and derivatively on behalf of 

Greenspan and AIPNW, against Greenspan and AIPNW (collectively, “Corporate Defendants”), 

Johnson’s former employers, and against his former business partners working with him for 

Corporate Defendants, Defendants GORDON SCOTT, III (“Gordon”), STEVE SEVERAID 

(“Severaid”), PAUL MIGDAL (“Migdal”), JAMES WARREN (“Warren”), CLAY GIBSON 

(“Gibson”), DREW LUCURELL (“D. Lucurell”), and CHRIS LUCURELL (“C. Lucurell”) 

(collectively, “Individual Defendants”), and Defendants DOES 1-20 (collectively, “Defendants”).   

2. Corporate Defendants are independent public insurance adjusting firms.  

Greenspan was founded in 1946, is based in San Francisco, California, and is one of the largest 

independent public insurance adjusting firm in the United States.  AIPNW is based in Seattle, 

Washington, and is affiliated with Greenspan. 

3. Johnson worked for Greenspan for over 36 years, from 1982 until his wrongful 

termination in 2018.  He rose up through the ranks to become a partner and shareholder of both 

Corporate Defendants, and at some point, he served as Greenspan’s CEO and President. 
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4. Individual Defendants, who together control a majority of Corporate Defendants, 

acted in concert by means of a series of bad faith and wrongful actions to accomplish the joint 

purpose of discriminating against and retaliating against Johnson with the ultimate goal of 

cheating him out of compensation he is entitled to, removing him as an active partner with 

Corporate Defendants, and ultimately wrongfully terminating him. Johnson, therefore, alleges 

various business, corporate, wage and hour, and employment torts against Defendants relating to 

his employment with Defendants.   

5. Johnson also brings a shareholder derivative action on behalf of Corporate 

Defendants against their officers and directors seeking to remedy for Individual Defendants’ 

abuse of control of  the companies, including breaches of their fiduciary duties, that have caused 

substantial losses to Corporate Defendants.  Johnson, therefore, also seeks damages, corporate 

governance reforms, and accounting, to remedy for Individual Defendants’ abusive and wrongful 

conduct. 

6. As such, Johnson seeks compensatory damages and/or restitution, general, civil 

and punitive damages, and the cost of suit, including attorneys’ fees, for the harm caused to him 

by this wrongful conduct of Defendants. 

II. PARTIES 

7. Johnson is 64 years old, and worked as a Public Adjuster for Greenspan for over 

36 years.   

8. Greenspan is a California Corporation, located 400 Oyster Point Boulevard, Suite 

519, San Francisco, California 94080.  Greenspan is an independent public insurance adjusting 

firm with its headquartered located in San Francisco, California.  Greenspan was and still is an 

employer in California within the meaning of the California Fair Employment and Housing Act 

(“FEHA”), California Government Code (“Gov’t Code”) § 12926, et seq., particularly Gov’t 

Code § 12926(d).  At all times relevant to this action, Greenspan was and is controlled by 

Individual Defendants who collectively exercise majority control over the corporation, its 

management committees, and its Board of Directors  

9. AIPNW is a Washington Profit Corporation, located 4300 36th Avenue West, 

Seattle, Washington 98199-1675.  AIPNW is an independent public insurance adjusting firm with 

its office located in Seattle, Washington.  Johnson is informed and believes that AIPNW was and 

still is an employer in California within the meaning of the FEHA, and particularly Gov’t Code 
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§ 12926(d).  At all times relevant to this action, AIPNW was and is controlled by Individual 

Defendants who collectively exercise majority control over the corporation, its management 

committees, and its Board of Directors. 

10. Johnson is informed and believes that both Greenspan and AIPNW were and still 

are alter egos and were his joint employers within the meaning of the FEHA, the California Labor 

Code, and California labor and employment laws. 

11. Scott is a resident of San Francisco, California.  Scott is a Shareholder, Director, 

President, and CEO of Greenspan.  Scott is a Shareholder and Director of AIPNW.  At all times 

relevant hereto Scott was also the alter ego of Greenspan and AIPNW, and a unity of interest 

exists between Scott and each of Corporate Defendants. 

12. Gibson is a resident of Novato, California.  Gibson is a Shareholder, Director, and 

COO of Greenspan.  At all times relevant hereto Gibson was also the alter ego of Greenspan, and 

a unity of interest exists between Gibson and Greenspan. 

13. Severaid is a resident of San Francisco, California.  Severaid is a Director, and 

Shareholder of Greenspan.  At all times relevant hereto Severaid was also the alter ego of 

Greenspan, and a unity of interest exists between Severaid and Greenspan.  

14. Migdal is a resident of San Francisco, California. Migdal is a Director, 

Shareholder, and General Counsel of Greenspan.  At all times relevant hereto Scott was also the 

alter ego of Greenspan, and a unity of interest exists between Scott and Greenspan.  

15. Warren is a resident of Alameda, California. Warren is a Principal, and 

Shareholder of Greenspan.  At all times relevant hereto Warren was also the alter ego of 

Greenspan, and a unity of interest exists between Warren and Greenspan. 

16. C. Lucurell is a resident of Seattle, Washington.  C. Lucurell is a Principal, 

Secretary, Treasurer, and Shareholder of AIPNW.  At all times relevant hereto C. Lucurell was 

also the alter ego of AIPNW, and a unity of interest exists between C. Lucurell and AIPNW. 

17. D. Lucurell is a resident of Seattle, Washington.  D. Lucurell is a Principal, 

Shareholder, and President of AIPNW.  At all times relevant hereto D. Lucurell was also the alter 

ego of AIPNW, and a unity of interest exists between D. Lucurell and AIPNW. 

18. Johnson is informed and believes that Individual Defendants were and still are 

alter egos of each of Corporate Defendants within the meaning of the California Labor Code, and 

California labor and employment laws.   
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19. Defendants Does 1 through 20 are sued herein under fictitious names pursuant to 

California Code of Civil Procedure § 474.  These Defendants are in some way liable for the 

damages sustained by Johnson.  Upon information and belief, Does 1 through 20 acted with and 

on behalf of named Defendants in the alleged violations.  Johnson does not, at this time, know 

the true names or capacities of said unnamed Defendants, but prays that the same may be inserted 

herein when ascertained. 

20. Johnson is informed, believes and thereon alleges that each of Defendants 

designated as a Doe is responsible in some manner for the events and happenings herein, and that 

Johnson’s injuries and damages as hereinafter set forth were proximately caused by said 

Defendants.  Johnson is informed and believes and thereon alleges that at all times herein 

mentioned, each of Defendants sued herein was the agent and/or employee of each of the 

remaining Defendants, and each of them, was at all times acting within the purpose and scope of 

such agency and employment. 

21. Johnson is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Individual Defendants 

collectively own a substantial majority of shares and equity of Greenspan and AIPNW and 

together form a block of controlling shareholders and exercise majority control over these 

corporations, their management committees, and their Boards of Directors. 

22. Individual Defendants along with Defendants Does 1 through 20 all acted in 

concert and while assuming the duties of controlling shareholders of Greenspan and AIPNW with 

respect to all acts by Individual Defendants alleged herein. 

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

23. Jurisdiction and venue are proper because Johnson’s claims and causes of actions 

arose in this county and because Defendants do business and/or reside in this county. 

24. In response to Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Johnson filed a Charge of 

Discrimination and Retaliation with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) 

against Greenspan on October 11, 2018 (EEOC Charge No.: 550-2018-01843).  On December 6, 

2019, the EEOC issued a Right-To-Sue Notice permitting Johnson to file a civil action under both 

federal and state laws, including the FEHA.  A copy of said Charge of Discrimination and Right-

To-Sue Notice are attached hereto as Exhibit 1.    

25. In response to Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Johnson filed a subsequent Charge 

of Discrimination and Retaliation with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 
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(“EEOC”) against AIPNW on June 14, 2019 (EEOC Charge No.: 551-2019-02285).  On 

December 9, 2019, the EEOC issued a Right-To-Sue Notice permitting Johnson to file a civil 

action under both federal and state laws, including the FEHA.  A copy of said Charge of 

Discrimination and Right-To-Sue Notice are attached hereto as Exhibit 2.    

IV. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. Johnson Started as a Junior Employee of Greenspan and Became a Major 

Partner and Owner of the Form 

26. Greenspan is an independent public adjusting firm that was originally founded in 

1946 as the Sidney Greenspan Company.  Through mergers and acquisitions, Greenspan is now 

affiliated with 6 independent public adjusting firms in Adjusters International, which is the largest 

nationwide coalition of public adjusters in the United States.  Upon information and belief, at the 

time of Johnson’s wrongful termination, Greenspan was also the largest independent public 

insurance business in the United States.   

27. Johnson was hired by Greenspan’s founder in 1982 as an Executive General 

Adjuster and later because a Public Adjuster.  Through his exceptional success at his job, his skill 

set, and his years of dedication to Greenspan, Johnson became a minority partner/shareholder in 

the firm in 1985, and subsequently a full partner in 1990. 

28. Johnson duties as a Public Adjuster included representing private clients in 

negotiations with insurance companies, estimating insurance losses, management of inventory, 

accounting, and management of Corporate Defendants’ production activities.  At times, Johnson 

was the largest producer of revenue for Greenspan in both referrals and adjusting claims.    

29. In 2003, Johnson and Scott fully acquired Greenspan.  Johnson was then elected 

President and CEO, in which position he served until 2005 when Greenspan acquired and merged 

with AIPNW.  Johnson then continued to serve as a co-chairman of the firm. 

30. Following the merger and acquisition of AIPNW in 2005, Scott became the 

President and CEO of Greenspan. 

31. Johnson was employed by Greenspan as a Public Adjuster until his wrongful 

termination on August 15, 2018. 

32. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant to this litigation, Johnson owned 

approximately 12.3% of Greenspan, including approximately 17,885 shares and warrants.  

Exclusive of all shares or equity in Greenspan owned by Individual Defendants, upon information 

and belief, at all times relevant to this litigation, Johnson owned over a third (33 and 1/3rd percent) 
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of the total equity in Greenspan.   

33. Upon information and belief, exclusive of all shares or equity in Greenspan owned 

by Individual Defendants, Johnson also owns over a third (33 and 1/3rd percent) of the total equity 

in AIPNW by virtue of the fact that Greenspan and AIPNW are the alter ego of one another, and 

that Greenspan is the sole owner of all shares in AIPNW. 

B. Johnson’s Affiliation with AIPNW as an Employee and Owner 

34. AIPNW is an independent public adjusting firm located in Seattle, Washington, 

which performs substantially the same business primarily in the pacific northwest (but also in 

California) as performed by Greenspan in California.   

35. Greenspan acquired and merged with the operations of AIPNW in or around April 

2005.  Since the acquisition and merger, Greenspan is and was at all relevant times the alter ego 

of AIPNW and of each of Individual Defendants, and it maintained a unity of interest between 

itself and AIPNW and each of Individual Defendants.  Since its acquisition by and merger with 

Greenspan, AIPNW is and was at all relevant times the alter ego of Greenspan and of each of 

Individual Defendants, and it maintained a unity of interest between itself and Greenspan and 

each of Individual Defendants.   

36. Johnson was employed by AIPNW in California as a Public Adjuster from April 

19, 2005.  

37. AIPNW has never provided any notice to Johnson that it terminated him.  

However, AIPNW has nevertheless wrongfully withheld his monthly salary since August 15, 

2018, at the same time he was wrongfully terminated by Greenspan. 

C. As He Became Older and Disabled, Johnson Was Increasingly Subjected to 

Discriminatory and Retaliatory Actions by Defendants 

38. As he became the President and CEO of Greenspan in 2005, Scott begun with a 

pattern and practice of preferring younger employees for management positions as he felt that 

younger, healthier managers would ensure the ongoing profitability of Corporate Defendants.  

Scott also regarded younger employees as being more energetic, and less prone to injury.   

39. As one of the founders of Corporate Defendants, Johnson was initially somewhat 

protected from Scott’s age bias.  However, as he aged and became disabled, he was subjected to 

an increased level of bias and harassing conduct by Individual Defendants, and primarily by Scott. 

40. Scott’s age- and disability- bias toward Johnson became more apparent over time 

because Scott felt that younger managers would be more profitable for the firm.   
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41. Scott and the other Individual Defendants then began a pattern and practice of and 

exploited their majority control over Corporate Defendants to harass, discriminate and retaliate 

against Johnson, and particularly sidelining Johnson from his management role in the firm.  For 

example, Scott sent an email to Johnson, seemingly out of the blue, which read, “I have been 

concerned for a while we do not share the same visions and goals.” Almost immediately 

thereafter, Johnson was removed from the Management Committee of Greenspan.  Scott and 

Migdal then added Severaid, Gibson, and Fratkin to the Management Committee, and by 

exploiting their majority control over Corporate Defendants they instructed Gibson to withhold 

meeting notes for a while until Johnson complained.  After Johnson complained, Gibson exploited 

the majority control over Corporate Defendants and began sending “redacted” meeting notes to 

Johnson.  Johnson was never made aware of the dates of said meetings because Scott and Migdal 

wanted to be absolutely certain Johnson never attended a Management Meeting after being 

removed from the Management Committee of the firm. 

42. On about December 11, 2012, Johnson was injured in an auto accident that 

occurred within the scope of his employment.  Since it was a major accident, his injuries included 

injuries to his neck, spine, and right knee.  Johnson was transported by ambulance to a local 

hospital where he subsequently incurred a pulmonary embolism secondary to a hospital-acquired 

MRSA infection.   

43. As a result of these series of serious injuries, Johnson was hospitalized for 

approximately three months during which he underwent no less than nine surgeries.  Thereafter, 

he required approximately three months of intermittent medical leave.   

44. During his medical leave of absence, Corporate Defendants assigned Johnson’s 

duties to Jessica Bivens, a much younger employee.   

45. Following the accident, Johnson asked the office manager to submit a workers’ 

compensation claim on his behalf.  Instead, however, Corporate Defendants’ general counsel, Ivo 

Labar, instructed Johnson to pursue a personal injury action rather than file a workers’ 

compensation claim.  Johnson acquiesced at that time because he did not want to risk retaliation 

from Corporate Defendants. 

46. Johnson returned to duty on approximately July 2013, but he required ongoing 

accommodations due to his residual physical limitations.  
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47. The disparate treatment of Johnson intensified following his injury 2013 as Scott 

and the other Individual Defendants then began to view Johnson as too old and physically infirm 

to continue working for the firm altogether and exploited their majority control over Corporate 

Defendants to harass, discriminate and retaliate against Johnson.   

48. On February 2014, Greenspan promoted Fratkin and Severaid, both of whom are 

substantially younger than Johnson, to assume operational control over the firm without 

performing an outside search for a COO and without performing due diligence to determine 

Fratkin’s and Severaid’s qualifications.   

49. Johnson opposed these actions by Greenspan because neither Severaid nor Fratkin 

were qualified to assume control over Greenspan as Severaid had no formal education or 

experience managing a firm, and Fratkin was also a convicted felon that could not legally perform 

licensed work for Corporate Defendants.   

50. Fratkin was previously convicted of one or more felonies in connection with 

embezzlement or other felonies involving dishonesty or a breach of trust.  The convictions related 

to the following criminal prosecutions:  The People of the State of California v. Mark Bruce 

Fratkin, Case No. SC027551A, 1991, Superior Court of California, County of San Mateo; and 

The People of the State of California v. Mark Bruce Fratkin, Case No. NF215912A, 1991, 

Superior Court of California, County of San Mateo. 

51. As a result of his criminal convictions, Fratkin was banned from engaging in the 

business of insurance pursuant to, inter alia, 18 U.S.C. 1033, which prohibits anyone who has 

been convicted of a felony involving dishonesty or a breach of trust from engaging in the business 

of insurance unless they have obtained the written consent of the States of California’s and 

Washington’s respective Insurance Commissioner.   

52. Further, it was a criminal offense for Corporate Defendants to willfully employ 

Fratkin in a position in which he would engage in the business of insurance.  Nevertheless, 

Corporate Defendants did exactly that. On information and belief, Corporate Defendants also 

knowingly made and submitted fraudulent statements to various governmental agencies, 

including on forms for Business Entity Application Public Adjuster Licenses of the State of 

California (Form CDI 181) omitting and/or falsely describing the involvement of Fratkin and 

failing to identify him as a “Prohibited Person”. 
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53. After Johnson protested of these practices, in mid-2014, Defendants removed 

operational control from Fratkin and Severaid.  However, Individual Defendants held a grudge 

against Johnson because of his opposition to the appointment of Fratkin and Severaid, and 

exploited their majority control over Corporate Defendants to harass, discriminate and retaliate 

against Johnson. 

54. On about November 6, 2015, Individual Defendants exploited their majority 

control to harass, discriminate and retaliate against Johnson by attempting to demote him by 

stripping him of his position as an officer of Greenspan and reducing his status to that of an 

adjuster. 

55. Moreover, after appearing to take action against Fratkin and Severaid, Individual 

Defendants then exploited their majority control over Corporate Defendants to illegally re-engage 

Fratkin to perform acts on behalf of Corporate Defendants, including by permitting and/or 

requiring that Fratkin perform acts that he was legally precluded from performing as a result of 

his felon status. 

56. On November 11, 2015, Larry Pratt, who then served as the COO of Greenspan, 

sent an email to all employees of the firm without the knowledge and consent of Johnson falsely 

indicating that Johnson was retiring.  Johnson believes that this email was sent to as part of the 

Individual Defendant’s harassing, discriminatory and retaliatory scheme to force Johnson to quit. 

As a result, Johnson received numerous calls inquiring about his upcoming retirement.  Individual 

Defendants exploited their majority control over Greenspan to further harass, discriminate and 

retaliate against Johnson further by refusing to allow Johnson to clarify that he was not retiring 

from the firm. 

57. Johnson complained to Individual Defendants about the reduction in his role in 

Greenspan and requested reinstatement as an officer during a January 21, 2016 Board of Directors 

meeting.  Individual Defendants initially refused to reinstate Johnson.  However, on December 

15, 2015, Johnson was reinstated to his position as Co-Chairman of Greenspan, yet again giving 

another reason to Individual Defendants to harass, discriminate and retaliate against by getting 

rid of him.   

58. Despite reinstating Johnson as an officer, Individual Defendants exploited their 

majority control of Corporate Defendants to harass, discriminate and retaliate against him by 
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limiting his role in Greenspan to supervision of the Pleasanton office, which was a satellite office 

of the firm. 

59. Further, despite his formal role as a Co-Chairman of Greenspan, Individual 

Defendants exploited their majority control to harass, discriminate and retaliate against Johnson 

by barring Johnson from attending Board of Directors or other management meetings of 

Greenspan. 

60. On February 3, 2017, Johnson fell 20 feet while performing his duties for 

Corporate Defendants with the result that he was hospitalized for approximately two weeks.  

Johnson filed a workers’ compensation claim for this occupational injury.  

61. This injury caused Scott and the other Individual Defendants to view Johnson with 

even greater hostility and form greater conviction that Johnson was too old and disabled to 

continue working for Corporate Defendants. 

D. Corporate Defendants’ Failure to Pay Bonuses, Reimbursement of Expenses, 

and Commissions to Johnson 

62. Puerto Rico was devastated by Hurricane Maria in late September 2017. 

63. On October 12, 2017, Defendants desired to exclude Johnson from participation 

in the governance of Corporate Defendants.  Accordingly, Scott sent Johnson with a team of 

employees in order to capitalize on the business opportunities in Puerto Rico created by Hurricane 

Maria.  The team, which was referred to as “Operation Puerto Rico”, included Johnson, Eric Metz 

(“Metz”), Andy Wooldridge (“Wooldridge”), and Kevin Johnson (“K. Johnson”).  The team was 

sent to Puerto Rico to help with insurance related matters as a result of the destruction caused by 

the hurricane.   

64. Johnson agreed to participate in Operation Puerto Rico pursuant to a separate 

compensation agreement (“PR Commission Contract”) executed on October 12, 2017.  A copy 

of the PR Commission Contract is attached hereto as Exhibit 3. 

65. The PR Commission Contract provided that Johnson would receive 10% of total 

adjusting receipts and 5% of sales with no offset of charges. 

66. Johnson is informed and believes that Corporate Defendants earned in excess of 

$13 million in revenue from the Puerto Rico Operation.   Pursuant to Johnson’s compensation 

agreement, the PR Commission Contract, he was therefore entitled to in excess of $1.9 million in 

adjusting and sales commissions.  
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67. Individual Defendants exploited their majority control over Corporate Defendants 

to harass, discriminate and retaliate against Johnson by removing him  from the Puerto Rico 

Operation, and deny him the compensation that he was due to him for that operation. 

68. Moreover, Johnson is informed and believes that Individual Defendants’ removal 

of Johnson from the Puerto Rico Operation caused a substantial disruption in the Puerto Rico 

Operation that resulted in a significant loss of revenue that would have been obtained if Johnson 

had remained.  As a result of Defendants’ harassing, discriminatory and retaliatory wrongful 

action, the Puerto Rico Operation generated less revenue that it would have otherwise with the 

result that Johnson was wrongfully deprived of commissions and wages on this lost revenue.   

69. On June 26, 2018, Corporate Defendants acknowledged that it owed Johnson 

“sales commissions on fees for losses that you signed or helped signed.”  Corporate Defendants 

promised to pay these commissions “as soon as fees are collected, and commissions are 

reasonably calculated.”  However, Corporate Defendants breached this promise by failing to pay 

the commissioned owed to Johnson to date. 

70. Pursuant to the agreement among the shareholders of Greenspan, Johnson was 

entitled to receive 35% of Greenspan’s annual debt-free net cash flow as a bonus.  However, 

Individual Defendants exploited their majority control over Corporate Defendants to further 

punish Johnson by failing to pay any of this bonus for 2018.  Johnson informed and believes the 

amount of the he was entitled to receive in excess of $1.5 million for 2018.   

71. Individual Defendants’ developed a severe bias against Johnson because of his 

age, disability, and complaints about the sexual harassment of employees, and his opposition to 

corporate malfeasance by Corporate Defendants.  Individual Defendants’ unlawful bias led them 

to use their majority control over Corporate Defendants to withhold Johnson’s compensation  

including his bonus for 2019 as well, and thus is entitled to receive 35% of Greenspan’s annual 

debt-free net cash flow as a bonus for 2019 and for each subsequent year.  

72. Johnson was also entitled to receive reimbursement of expenses for his work for 

Corporate Defendants, including but not limited to reimbursement for all travel and mileage 

expenses he incurred working for them.  However, Individual Defendants exploited their majority 

control over Corporate Defendants by withholding reimbursement of these expenses from 

Johnson. 
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73. As a result, Johnson is still owed significant amounts of moneys in unreimbursed 

expenses that he incurred during his work for Corporate Defendants. 

E. Defendants Retaliated against Johnson because He Opposed and Complained 

about Sexual Harassment of Employees by Metz in Puerto Rico 

74. While on assignment in Puerto Rico, Eric Metz engaged in sexually harassing and 

inappropriate conduct against his subordinates Wooldridge and K. Johnson in violation of 

Corporate Defendants’ written policy against sexual harassment and Puerto Rico and California 

laws.   

75. This conduct included making sexually explicit comments to Wooldridge and K. 

Johnson describing his activities as a swinger in highly graphic detail that included, but was not 

limited to, the following: 

a. Describing group sex with his wife and other men; 

b. Describing his wife giving oral sex to other men; 

c. Stating that he loved to watch “several guys fuck his wife”;  

d. Stating that he loved to “watch guys cum all over her face”; and  

e. Offering to show pictures of men having sex with his wife. 

76. On information and belief, Metz also attempted to recruit Wooldridge and K. 

Johnson into engaging in group sexual relations with Metz and Metz’ wife. Metz told Wooldridge 

that he thought that Wooldridge was “the right person and at the right age to please his wife.”  

Similarly, Metz told K. Johnson that he and his wife “like to fuck younger men” and that he was 

about the same age as their “former lover”. 

77. K. Johnson complained to Johnson on or about November 13, 2017.  Johnson 

discussed Metz’ conduct with Wooldridge on or about November 14, 2017. 

78. After speaking to K. Johnson and Wooldridge, Johnson complained to Scott, who 

was then Greenspan’s CEO/President, concerning Metz’ conduct.  Scott was dismissive to this 

complaint and merely deflected Johnson’s complaint to Gibson because he exploited majority 

control over Corporate Defendants. 

79. Because Scott did not take his complaint seriously, on November 14, 2017, 

Johnson obtained a written statement concerning Metz’ inappropriate conduct from Wooldridge.   

Johnson forwarded the statement to Scott and Gibson the same day.   

80. Scott and Individual Defendants were furious that Johnson had made a formal 

sexual harassment complaint about Metz because they viewed Metz as one of Corporate 
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Defendants’ top money-makers and considered him to be a key driver of the firms’ future growth.  

Scott and the other Individual Defendants were also concerned that Johnson’s sexual harassment 

complaint would disrupt the Operation Puerto Rico.  As a result, Gibson told Johnson that he 

should have protected the firm by keeping the issue with Metz quiet.  Gibson was particularly 

angry that Johnson made the complaint in writing as that made it more difficult to cover up.  

Individual Defendants considered Johnson’s complaints against Metz for sexual harassment to be 

another indication that Johnson was too old and out of step with the times. 

81. In retaliation for Johnson’s sexual harassment complaint about Metz, Individual 

Defendants exploited their majority control over Corporate Defendants to further harass, 

discriminate and retaliate against Johnson by scrutinizing every aspect of Johnson’s performance 

in order to manufacture an excuse to take adverse actions against him.  To that end, Corporate 

Defendants undertook a sham investigation of Johnson’s complaint of sexual harassment against 

Metz that was intended to exonerate Metz of and wrongdoing.  At the same time, Individual 

Defendants exploited their majority control over Corporate Defendants to further harass, 

discriminate and retaliate against Johnson by focusing its investigation on Johnson rather than 

Metz.   

82. On information and belief, the investigation by Corporate Defendants confirmed 

that Metz’ had made the offensive comments toward Wooldridge and K. Johnson about which 

Johnson had complained.  However, it unreasonably excused Metz’ conduct by claiming that no 

one was offended by it despite statements from both Wooldridge and K. Johnson to the contrary.  

83. At the same time, Individual Defendants exploited their majority control over 

Corporate Defendants to harass, discriminate and retaliated against Johnson by accelerating its 

campaign of harassment against him.   

84. For example, on May 23, 2018, pursuant to this practice of discrimination and 

retaliation, Individual Defendants exploited their majority control over Corporate Defendants  and 

removed Johnson from his position on the Puerto Rico Team and replaced him with Masood 

Khan, who is substantially younger.  

85. Individual Defendants next exploited their majority control over Corporate 

Defendants to strip Johnson of his position as Co-Chairman of Greenspan, and reassigned 

Johnson to work as an adjuster in California. 
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F. Failure to Accommodate Johnson’s Request for Intermittent Leave and His 

Wrongful Termination 

86. As a result of the earlier discrimination, harassment and retaliation by Corporate 

Defendants that was facilitated, inter alia, by the exploitation of the majority control over 

Corporate Defendants by Individual Defendants, Johnson suffered significant stress causing him 

to seek medical treatment.  Johnson’s doctor then recommended a course of treatment that would 

require Johnson to take intermittent leave for approximately 1 hour per week over a six-month 

period.  

87. On June 25, 2018, Johnson’s doctor informed Corporate Defendants that he 

required intermittent leave of 1 hour per week for the next six months.  Johnson’s doctor also 

recommend that Johnson take a short vacation. 

88. In an effort to further punish Johnson for his complaints, Individual Defendants 

exploited their majority control over Corporate Defendants to further harass, discriminate and 

retaliate against Johnson by willfully and unreasonably misreading Johnson’s June 25, 2018 

doctor’s note to be a request for an indefinite, continuous leave of absence rather than a request 

for intermittent leave.   

89. On June 26, 2018, Corporate Defendants acknowledged that it owed Johnson 

“sales commissions on fees for losses that you signed or helped signed.”  Corporate Defendants 

promised to pay these commissions “as soon as fees are collected, and commissions are 

reasonably calculated.”  However, Corporate Defendants breached this promise by failing to pay 

the commissions owed to Johnson to date. 

90. Knowing that Individual Defendants controlled a majority of Corporate 

Defendants, Scott announced in an email to all employees that leadership team of Executive 

officers would including Scott as President/CEO, Migdal as Executive Vice President/Secretary, 

Severaid as Senior Vice President/Treasurer, and Gibson as Chief Operations Officer.  In the same 

email, Scott announced that the Board of Directors would consist of Scott, Migdal, Severaid and 

Chris Glenister.  In this way, Individual Defendants exploited their majority control over 

Greenspan to further harass, discriminate and retaliate against him. 

91. On July 3, 2018, in retaliation for seeking an accommodation and consistent with 

its practice of age and disability discrimination and exploiting Individual Defendants’ majority 

control over Corporate Defendants, Gibson placed Johnson on an involuntary continuous unpaid 

leave of absence, which it unlawfully designated “FMLA Leave.” 
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92. Johnson clarified and reiterated that he only required intermittent leave and not 

continuous leave in a meeting with Scott and Migdal on June 4, 2018.  Nevertheless, in an 

unlawful attempt to force Johnson to resign, Individual Defendants again exploited their majority 

control over Corporate Defendants to persist in their discriminatory and retaliatory effort to force 

Johnson to take an involuntary continuous leave of absence.   

93. On July 7, 2018, Johnson further objected to this involuntary leave of absence and 

submitted a doctor’s note that clarified that “Mr. Johnson is able to return to work with the 

Greenspan Company Adjusters International effective 9 July 2018 …. I do not believe that Mr. 

Johnson’s current symptoms…impair his ability to function with assigned work responsibilities.” 

94. Nevertheless, Gibson further harassed, discriminated and retaliated against 

Johnson--knowing that Individual Defendants maintained majority control over Corporate 

Defendants by prohibiting him from returning to work and by turning off Johnson’s e-mail and 

cell phone: “I am Chief Operations Officer of the Company and as such I am instructing you to 

NOT return to work until such time as the Company allows you to do so, we are turning off your 

e-mail account and your cell phone.” 

95. On July 9, 2018, Johnson’s doctor sent yet another correspondence which 

attempted to clarify that Johnson did not require a continuous leave of absence.  Johnson’s doctor 

stated unequivocally: “I want to stress that, at the present time, Mr. Johnson is able to return to 

work with Greenspan Co.-Adjusters International effective 9 July 2018.” (Emphasis added.) 

96. Consequently, that same day (July 9, 2018), Johnson made another attempt to 

engage in an interactive process with Corporate Defendants, and that he believed that their 

conduct was harassing, discriminatory and retaliatory. 

97. On July 13, 2018, Individual Defendants exploited their majority control over 

Corporate Defendants to further harass, discriminate and retaliate against Johnson by reiterating 

that he was on a forced administrative leave so that Greenspan could further consider his 

physician’s statements that he was able to work.  Greenspan again emphasized that it would not 

allow Johnson to “perform any work” even though he is able to do so.  Greenspan then informed 

Johnson that his physician must provide written answers to Greenspan’s questions concerning his 

health before it would permit Johnson to return to work.   

98. On or about July 22, 2018, Johnson’s physician provided Corporate Defendants 

with a completed questionnaire which again clearly stated that Johnson was able to return to work. 
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99. Although Johnson complied with all of Corporate Defendants’ illegal demands, 

they still refused to return him to work.  On July 24, 2018, Greenspan wrote him that he would 

remain on administrative leave except that it expected him to appear for an interview in 

connection with an investigation into his “conduct as an Officer, Director and employee of the 

company” which it had allegedly launched during his forced leave of absence.   

100. On August 15, 2018, Individual Defendants further exploited their majority 

control over Corporate Defendants to harass, discriminate and retaliate against Johnson by 

unlawfully terminating him in a letter based on the pretext that Johnson had violated some 

undisclosed policy: “Our investigation into your conduct revealed numerous violations of 

Company policies [and this] letter is to inform you that as of today, August 15, 2018, we are 

terminating your employment with the Company.”   

G. Corporate Malfeasance by Individual Defendants Directed at Corporate 

Defendants  

101. Defendants permitted Fratkin to serve as a Public Adjuster despite that fact that he 

lacked the requisite licenses which he could not obtain because he was a convicted felon.   

102. Defendants also permitted Fratkin to impersonate licensed Public Adjusters 

working for Corporate Defendants in emails and over the telephone in order to permit him to 

conduct work as a Public Adjuster. 

103. On information and belief, Individual Defendants also exploited their majority 

control over Corporate Defendants by permitting a corporate culture that tolerated unethical, 

immoral, and illegal conduct by employees including but not limited to Scott and Severaid.  On 

information and belief, this conduct of Individual Defendants included routinely permitting 

employees to misappropriate Corporate Defendants’ funds for their own purposes by funding 

personal trips, purchasing prostitutes, holding extravagant parties in strip clubs during which lap 

dances and other sexual acts were paid for with corporate funds of Corporate Defendants. 

104. Individual Defendants also exploited their majority control over Corporate 

Defendants by allowing and authorizing Scott to routinely pay and authorize the payment of cash 

bribes to individuals in exchange for access to clients and business. 

H. Shareholder Demand Is Futile 

105. Johnson was a shareholder of record of Greenspan at all relevant times mentioned 

above.  Johnson was also a shareholder of AIPNW insofar as Greenspan, and AIPNW are the 

alter ego of one another and that Greenspan owns AIPNW in its entirety. 
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106. Johnson complained about the above conduct by Defendants many times.  Each 

time, Individual Defendants exploited their majority control over Corporate Defendants to ignore 

Johnson’s complaints and moreover to increase their retaliatory actions against him. 

107. Accordingly, any further demand to the directors of Greenspan or AIPNW any 

relief sought in this action, because any such demand would have been futile or useless as all of 

the directors and officers of Greenspan to whom such a demand could have been made were the 

perpetrators of the wrongful acts alleged herein, and all of whom had repeatedly exploited their 

majority control over Corporate Defendants to ignore Johnson’s complaints. 

108. As alleged previously herein, Scott was the perpetrator who—relying on 

Individual Defendants majority control of Greenspan—initiated the pattern and practice of 

sidelining Johnson from his management role in the firm due to his age and disability, disregarded 

Johnson’s complaints about Metz, failed to accommodate Johnson’s disability, was responsible 

for Greenspan’s termination of Johnson, knowingly permitted Fratkin to serve as a Public 

Adjuster for Greenspan despite the fact that he lacked the requisite licenses to do so and was 

precluded from eligibility to obtain them, and misappropriated Corporate Defendants’ funds for 

his own purposes by funding personal trips, purchasing prostitutes, and holding extravagant 

parties in strip clubs during which lap dances and other sexual acts were paid for with corporate 

funds of Corporate Defendants.   

109. As alleged previously herein, Severaid—relying on Individual Defendants 

majority control of Greenspan—participated in and ratified the pattern and practice of sidelining 

Johnson from his management role in the firm due to his age and disability, knowingly permitted 

Fratkin to serve as a Public Adjuster for Greenspan despite the fact that he lacked the requisite 

licenses to do so and was precluded from eligibility to obtain them, and misappropriated 

Corporate Defendants’ funds for his own purposes by funding personal trips, purchasing 

prostitutes, and holding extravagant parties in strip clubs during which lap dances and other sexual 

acts were paid for with corporate funds of Corporate Defendants.   

110. As alleged previously herein, Migdal—relying on Individual Defendants majority 

control of Greenspan—participated in and ratified the pattern and practice of sidelining Johnson 

from his management role in the firm due to his age and disability, failed to accommodate 

Johnson’s disability, made certain Johnson would be forbidden from attending management 

meetings after his removal from the Management Committee, was responsible for Greenspan’s 
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termination of Johnson, knowingly permitted Fratkin to serve as a Public Adjuster for Greenspan 

despite the fact that he lacked the requisite licenses to do so and was precluded from eligibility to 

obtain them, and participated in and ratified the misappropriation Corporate Defendants’ funds 

for his own purposes by funding personal trips, purchasing prostitutes, and holding extravagant 

parties in strip clubs during which lap dances and other sexual acts were paid for with corporate 

funds of Corporate Defendants. 

111. As alleged previously herein, Gibson—relying on Individual Defendants majority 

control of Greenspan—participated in and ratified the pattern and practice of sidelining Johnson 

from his management role in the firm due to his age and disability, disregarded Johnson’s 

complaints about Metz, was responsible for Greenspan’s termination of Johnson, placed Johnson 

on an involuntary continuous unpaid leave of absence which Greenspan unlawfully designated 

“FMLA Leave,” prohibited Johnson from returning to work and turned off Johnson’s e-mail and 

cell phone, knowingly permitted Fratkin to serve as a Public Adjuster for Greenspan despite the 

fact that he lacked the requisite licenses to do so and was precluded from eligibility to obtain 

them, and participated in and ratified the misappropriation Corporate Defendants’ funds for his 

own purposes by funding personal trips, purchasing prostitutes, and holding extravagant parties 

in strip clubs during which lap dances and other sexual acts were paid for with corporate funds of 

Corporate Defendants. 

112. As alleged previously herein, Warren—relying on Individual Defendants majority 

control of Greenspan—participated in and ratified the pattern and practice of sidelining Johnson 

from his management role in the firm due to his age and disability, participated in and ratified 

Greenspan’s termination of Johnson, knowingly permitted Fratkin to serve as a Public Adjuster 

for Greenspan despite the fact that he lacked the requisite licenses to do so and was precluded 

from eligibility to obtain them, and participated in and ratified the misappropriation Corporate 

Defendants’ funds for his own purposes by funding personal trips, purchasing prostitutes, and 

holding extravagant parties in strip clubs during which lap dances and other sexual acts were paid 

for with corporate funds of Corporate Defendants. 

113. As alleged previously herein, C. Lucurell—relying on Individual Defendants 

majority control of Greenspan—participated in and ratified the pattern and practice of sidelining 

Johnson from his management role in the firm due to his age and disability, participated in and 

ratified Greenspan’s termination of Johnson, knowingly permitted Fratkin to serve as a Public 
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Adjuster for Greenspan despite the fact that he lacked the requisite licenses to do so and was 

precluded from eligibility to obtain them, and participated in and ratified the misappropriation 

Corporate Defendants’ funds for his own purposes by funding personal trips, purchasing 

prostitutes, and holding extravagant parties in strip clubs during which lap dances and other sexual 

acts were paid for with corporate funds of Corporate Defendants. 

114. As alleged previously herein, D. Lucurell—relying on Individual Defendants 

majority control of Greenspan—participated in and ratified the pattern and practice of sidelining 

Johnson from his management role in the firm due to his age and disability, participated in and 

ratified Greenspan’s termination of Johnson, knowingly permitted Fratkin to serve as a Public 

Adjuster for Greenspan despite the fact that he lacked the requisite licenses to do so and was 

precluded from eligibility to obtain them, and participated in and ratified the misappropriation 

Corporate Defendants’ funds for his own purposes by funding personal trips, purchasing 

prostitutes, and holding extravagant parties in strip clubs during which lap dances and other sexual 

acts were paid for with corporate funds of Corporate Defendants 

115. Because of the foregoing wrongful conduct of Individual Defendants alleged 

above and throughout this pleading, it would have been futile for Johnson to bring a demand to 

the Board of Greenspan or AIPNW, because these directors, comprised entirely of Individual 

Defendants, could not have exercised independent and disinterested business judgment in 

responding to a demand directly accusing them of such misconduct. Such a demand would have 

in effect been a request that Individual Defendants sue themselves for, among other things, 

violating California employment laws; breaching their own duties owed to Corporate Defendants 

and Johnson as a minority shareholder, employee, and individual; misappropriating Corporate 

Defendants’ funds; and illegally allowing Fratkin to practice public adjusting on Corporate 

Defendants’ behalf without a license.  Such a demand would thus have been futile and useless. 

116. Moreover, while still employed by Corporate Defendants, Johnson complained 

many times of Individual Defendants’ retaliatory conduct towards him, as described above. 

Nevertheless, he was ultimately wrongfully terminated from Corporate Defendants by the very 

same Individual Defendants, again illustrating the futility of a demand for the relief sought herein. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Age Discrimination in Violation of the FEHA 

(Asserted against Corporate Defendants) 

117. Johnson repeats and re-alleges all of the previous allegations herein by reference. 
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118. The FEHA offers protections to employees against the unlawful practices of 

employers by broadly prohibiting employment discrimination in discharges, or terms and 

conditions of employment based on age. 

119. As set forth above, Individual Defendants were biased against Johnson for because 

of his age. As Individual Defendants exercised majority control over Corporate Defendants, their 

bias resulted in the bias of Corporate Defendants against Johnson because of his age. 

120. As set forth above, Individual Defendants bias against Johnson was so strong that 

they exploited their majority control over Corporate Defendants to cause Corporate Defendants 

to treat Johnson differently for younger workers and to discriminate against Johnson based upon 

his age, a protected class under the FEHA. 

121. By taking adverse employment actions against Johnson based upon his age, 

including the establishment of a hostile work environment for many years, the unfair demotion, 

and wrongful termination of Johnson, Corporate Defendants have violated the FEHA. 

122. Corporate Defendants’ actions, as described above, directly and proximately 

caused, and continue to cause, Johnson to suffer loss of income, severe emotional distress, 

anguish, pain and suffering, humiliation, indignity, personal embarrassment, and damage to his 

professional reputation. 

123. Therefore, Johnson is entitled to damages according to proof at trial. 

124. In committing the acts alleged herein, Corporate Defendants acted with 

oppression, fraud, and/or malice, and in reckless or willful disregard of Johnson’s rights.  Johnson 

is therefore entitled to punitive damages in an amount according to proof at trial. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Disability Discrimination in Violation of the FEHA 

(Asserted against Corporate Defendants) 

125. Johnson repeats and re-alleges all of the previous allegations herein by reference. 

126. FEHA offers protections to employees against the unlawful practices of employers 

by broadly prohibiting employment discrimination in discharges, or terms and conditions of 

employment, based on disability. 

127. As set forth above, Individual Defendants were biased against Johnson for because 

of his actual and/or perceived disabilities, which are protected classes under the FEHA. As 

Individual Defendants exercised majority control over Corporate Defendants, their bias resulted 
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in the bias of Corporate Defendants against Johnson because of his actual and/or perceived 

disabilities. 

128. As set forth above, Johnson was treated differently and discriminated against 

based upon his actual and/or perceived disabilities, which are protected classes under the FEHA. 

129. By taking adverse employment actions and subjecting Johnson to discrimination, 

harassment, and a hostile work environment based upon his disabilities, Corporate Defendants 

violated the FEHA. 

130. Corporate Defendants’ actions, as described above, directly and proximately 

caused, and continue to cause, Johnson to suffer loss of income, severe emotional distress, 

anguish, pain and suffering, humiliation, indignity, personal embarrassment, and damage to his 

professional reputation. 

131. Therefore, Johnson is entitled to damages according to proof at trial. 

132. In committing the acts alleged herein, Corporate Defendants acted with 

oppression, fraud, and/or malice, and in reckless or willful disregard of Johnson’s rights.  Johnson 

is therefore entitled to punitive damages in an amount according to proof at trial. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

Failure to Accommodate a Disability in Violation of the FEHA 

(Asserted against Corporate Defendants) 

133. Johnson repeats and re-alleges all of the previous allegations herein by reference. 

134. Corporate Defendants have a duty to provide reasonable accommodation to its 

employees who are disabled within the meaning of the FEHA. 

135. Pursuant to Gov’t Code § 12945(b), Johnson was disabled within the meaning of 

the FEHA since no later than June 25, 2018, and Corporate Defendants was aware that Johnson 

was disabled since no later than June 25, 2018. 

136. As set forth above, Individual Defendants were biased against Johnson for because 

of his actual and/or perceived disabilities.  As Individual Defendants exercised majority control 

over Corporate Defendants, their bias resulted in Corporate Defendants’ breach of their duty to 

reasonably accommodate Johnson when Corporate Defendants denied his multiple requests for 

intermittent leave to attend periodic doctor’s appointments.   

137. Corporate Defendants’ actions, as described above, directly and proximately 

caused, and continue to cause, Johnson to suffer loss of income, severe emotional distress, 
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anguish, pain and suffering, humiliation, indignity, personal embarrassment, and damage to his 

professional reputation. 

138. Therefore, Johnson is entitled to damages according to proof at trial. 

139. In committing the acts alleged herein, Corporate Defendants acted with 

oppression, fraud, and/or malice, and in reckless or willful disregard of Johnson’s rights.  Johnson 

is therefore entitled to punitive damages in an amount according to proof at trial. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Failure to Engage in a Good Faith Interactive Process of Disability Accommodation in 

Violation of the FEHA 

(Asserted against Corporate Defendants) 

140. Johnson repeats and re-alleges all of the previous allegations herein by reference. 

141. Pursuant to Gov’t Code § 12945, Johnson was disabled within the meaning of the 

FEHA since no later than June 25, 2018, and Corporate Defendants were aware that Johnson was 

disabled since no later than June 25, 2018. 

142. Pursuant to Gov’t Code § 12940(n), Corporate Defendants had a duty to engage 

in a good faith and meaningful interactive process to accommodate Johnson’s disabilities. 

143. Johnson made multiple requests for reasonable accommodations to attend period 

doctors’ appointments which were unreasonably denied. 

144. As set forth above, Individual Defendants possessed a strong bias against Johnson 

because of his disability.  Individual Defendants exploited their majority control over Corporate 

Defendants to deny Johnson reasonable accommodations. 

145. Accordingly, Corporate Defendants breached their duty under the FEHA by failing 

to engage in a good faith and meaningful interactive process to accommodate Johnson.  Rather 

than engage in this process, Corporate Defendants merely put Johnson an involuntary and 

indefinite unpaid leave, and then terminated him entirely a few days later. 

146. Corporate Defendants’ actions, as described above, directly and proximately 

caused, and continue to cause, Johnson to suffer loss of income, severe emotional distress, 

anguish, pain and suffering, humiliation, indignity, personal embarrassment, and damage to his 

professional reputation. 

147. Therefore, Johnson is entitled to damages according to proof at trial. 
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148. In committing the acts alleged herein, Corporate Defendants acted with 

oppression, fraud, and/or malice, and in reckless or willful disregard of Johnson’s rights.  Johnson 

is therefore entitled to punitive damages in an amount according to proof at trial. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Failure to Prevent Discriminatory and Retaliatory Practices in Violation of FEHA 

(Asserted against Corporate Defendants) 

149. Johnson repeats and re-alleges all of the previous allegations herein by reference. 

150. Pursuant to Gov’t Code § 12940(k), Corporate Defendants have a duty to take all 

reasonable steps necessary to prevent discrimination and harassment from occurring in their place 

of employment. 

151. As set forth above, Individual Defendants possessed a strong bias against Johnson 

because of his age, disability, complaints on behalf of employees, and opposition to corporate 

malfeasance.  Individual Defendants exploited their majority control over Corporate Defendants 

to cause Corporate Defendants ignore Johnson’s complaints about harassment, discrimination and 

retaliation. 

152. Upon information and belief, Corporate Defendants failed to prevent 

discrimination and retaliation in the workplace and that this conduct included, but was not limited 

to, the following: (a) failure to properly train all supervisory employees, including Metz, Scott, 

and Gibson regarding discrimination and retaliation in the workplace; (b) failure to effectively 

enforce policies and procedures regarding the prevention and abatement of discrimination and 

retaliation; (c) failure to prevent employees, including Individual Defendants, from retaliating 

against Johnson because of his complaints; (d) failure to investigate complaints of discrimination 

and retaliation made by Johnson in good faith; and (e) failure to ensure compliance with federal 

and California anti-discrimination and anti-retaliation laws.  

153. Upon information and belief, Corporate Defendants failed to implement effective 

discrimination prevention and reporting procedures, inform employees of what the firm’s 

discrimination and harassment reporting procedures were, if any, or take any other reasonable 

steps to prevent discrimination and retaliation.  

154. Corporate Defendants’ actions, as described above, directly and proximately have 

caused, and continue to cause, Johnson to suffer losses of income and work opportunities and 

have caused severe emotional distress, anguish, pain and suffering, humiliation, indignity, 

personal embarrassment, and damage to his professional reputation. 
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155. As such, Johnson is entitled to damages according to proof at trial. 

156. In doing the acts herein alleged, Corporate Defendants acted with oppression, 

fraud, malice, and in reckless or in willful disregard of Johnson’s rights.  Johnson is therefore 

entitled to punitive damages in an amount according to proof at the time of trial. 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Retaliation in Violation of FEHA 

(Asserted against Corporate Defendants) 

157. Johnson repeats and re-alleges all of the previous allegations herein by reference. 

158. Under the FEHA, Corporate Defendants are forbidden from retaliating against any 

person for opposing any practices forbidden by FEHA. 

159. As set forth above, Individual Defendants possessed a strong bias against Johnson 

because of his age, disability, complaints on behalf of employees, and opposition to corporate 

malfeasance.  Individual Defendants exploited their majority control over Corporate Defendants 

to cause Corporate Defendants a strong bias against Johnson because of his prior complaints 

against them. 

160. Individual Defendants exploited their majority control over Corporate Defendants 

to cause Corporate Defendants to violate this provision of the FEHA by acting in a retaliatory 

manner towards Johnson because he asserted his rights under the FEHA, including, but not limited 

to, his right to an environment free of discrimination, harassment, and retaliation due to his age 

and disability and his right to have his disabilities reasonably accommodated.  Corporate 

Defendants also retaliated against Johnson because he opposed sexual harassment by Metz 

against Wooldridge and K. Johnson.   

161. Corporate Defendants retaliated against Johnson by taking various adverse actions 

including, but not limited to, subjecting him to harassment, discrimination, and a hostile work 

environment; demoting him, removing him from his responsibilities in Puerto Rico, placing him 

on administrative leave, and wrongfully terminating him. 

162. Corporate Defendants’ actions, as described above, directly and proximately 

caused, and continue to cause, Johnson to suffer loss of income, severe emotional distress, 

anguish, pain and suffering, humiliation, indignity, personal embarrassment, and damage to his 

professional reputation. 

163. Therefore, Johnson is entitled to damages according to proof at trial. 
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164. In committing the acts alleged herein, Corporate Defendants acted with 

oppression, fraud, and/or malice, and in reckless or willful disregard of Johnson’s rights.  Johnson 

is therefore entitled to punitive damages in an amount according to proof at trial. 

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Retaliation in Violation of Labor Code § 98.6 

(Asserted against Corporate Defendants) 

165. Johnson repeats and re-alleges all of the previous allegations herein by reference. 

166. Labor Code § 98.6 provides in relevant part that an employer shall not “in any 

manner discriminate, retaliate, or take any adverse employment action against any employee … 

because the employee … made a written or oral complaint that he or she is owed unpaid wages.” 

167. Johnson made a written complaint to Corporate Defendants that he was owed 

unpaid wages, as well as that he was being wrongfully subjected to a hostile work environment 

and was being discriminated against due to his age and disabilities. 

168. On June 26, 2018, Greenspan acknowledged that it owed Johnson “sales 

commissions on fees for losses that you signed or helped signed.”  Greenspan promised to pay 

these commissions as soon as fees are collected, and commissions are reasonably calculated.” 

169. As set forth above, Individual Defendants possessed a strong bias against Johnson 

because of his complaints about his wages and commissions.   

170. Individual Defendants exploited their majority control over Corporate Defendants 

to cause Corporate Defendants to fail to address Johnson’s concerns, did not address the 

discrimination at all, and instead began a process of retaliating against him and ultimately 

terminated him. 

171. Therefore, Johnson is entitled to damages according to proof at trial. 

172. In committing the acts alleged herein, Corporate Defendants acted with 

oppression, fraud, and/or malice, and in reckless or willful disregard of Johnson’s rights.  Johnson 

is therefore entitled to punitive damages in an amount according to proof at trial. 

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Wrongful Termination in Violation of Public Policy 

(Asserted against Corporate Defendants) 

173. Johnson repeats and re-alleges all of the previous allegations herein by reference. 

174. An employer commits tortious termination in violation of public policy when there 

is an applicable public policy protecting an employee with a certain status and the employer 

terminates the employee because of his protected status.  Tameny v. Atlantic Richfield Co. (1980) 
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27 Cal.3d 167.  A duty is implied by law on the part of the employer to conduct its affairs in 

compliance with public policy, expressed judicially or by statute. 

175. The public policy expressed in FEHA and the Labor Code protects Johnson from 

the discrimination and retaliation because of his disability, age, and protected activity.  Corporate 

Defendants committed wrongful termination in violation of public policy because it terminated 

Johnson for discriminatory and retaliatory motives as set forth above. 

176. As set forth above, Individual Defendants possessed a strong bias against Johnson 

because of his age, disability, complaints on behalf of employees and over his wages and 

commissions, and opposition to corporate malfeasance. 

177. Individual Defendants exploited their majority control over Corporate Defendants 

to cause Corporate Defendants, as described above, to directly and proximately cause, and 

continue to cause, Johnson to suffer losses of income and work opportunities and have caused 

severe emotional distress, anguish, pain and suffering, humiliation, indignity, personal 

embarrassment, and damage to his professional reputation.  

178. As such, Johnson is entitled to damages according to proof at trial. 

179. In doing the acts herein alleged, Corporate Defendants acted with oppression, 

fraud or malice, and in reckless or in willful disregard of Johnson’s rights. Johnson is therefore 

entitled to punitive damages in an amount according to proof at the time of trial. 

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Breach of Contract 

(Asserted against Corporate Defendants) 

180. Johnson repeats and re-alleges all of the previous allegations herein by reference. 

181. Johnson and Corporate Defendants entered into the PR Commission Contract that 

entitled Johnson to commissions on October 12, 2017. 

182. The PR Commission Contract between Johnson and Corporate Defendants 

constitutes a valid, legally binding contract between Defendants and Johnson. 

183. The PR Commission Contract provided that Johnson would receive 10% of total 

adjusting receipts and 5% of sales with no offset of charges. 

184. Johnson is informed and believes that Corporate Defendants earned in excess of 

$13 million in revenue from the Puerto Rico Operation.  Pursuant to Johnson’s compensation 

agreement, PR Commission Contract, he was entitled to in excess of $1.9 million in adjuster and 

sales commissions.  
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185. On June 26, 2018, Corporate Defendants acknowledged that it owed Johnson 

“sales commissions on fees for losses that you signed or helped signed.”  Corporate Defendants 

promised to pay these commissions “as soon as fees are collected, and commissions are 

reasonably calculated.”   

186. As set forth above, Individual Defendants possessed a strong bias against Johnson 

because of his age, disability, complaints on behalf of employees and for his wages and 

commissions, and opposition to corporate malfeasance. 

187. Individual Defendants exploited their majority control over Corporate Defendants 

to cause Corporate Defendants to breach this agreement by failing to pay the commissioned owed 

to Johnson. 

188. Johnson performed all of the duties required under the terms of the Contract by 

performing his day-to-day employment with Corporate Defendants from on or about October 12, 

2017 to his wrongful termination on about August 15, 2018. 

189. Corporate Defendants’ failure to abide by the terms of the Contract caused 

Johnson to suffer damages, including but not limited loss of income, benefits, and further damages 

in an amount according to proof at trial. 

TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Failure to Pay Wages in Violation of the Labor Code  

(Asserted against Defendants) 

190. Johnson repeats and re-alleges all of the previous allegations herein by reference. 

191. Wages are due to the employee twice a month—first between the first and tenth 

day of the month, then between the sixteenth and twenty-sixth day. California Labor Code § 

204(a). 

192. Corporate Defendants failed to pay the commission due to Johnson under the PR 

Commission Contract.   

193. Pursuant to the agreement among the shareholders of Greenspan, Johnson was 

entitled to receive 35% of Greenspan’s annual debt-free net cash flow as a bonus.   

194. As set forth above, Individual Defendants possessed a strong bias against Johnson 

because of his age, disability, complaints on behalf of employees and for his wages and 

commissions, and opposition to corporate malfeasance.   

195. However, Individual Defendants exploited their majority control over Corporate 

Defendants to cause Corporate Defendants to fail to pay any of this bonus for 2018.  Johnson 
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informed and believes the amount of the he was entitled to receive in excess of $1.5 million for 

2018.   

196. Johnson was not paid this bonus for 2019 as well, and thus is entitled to receive 

35% of Greenspan’s annual debt-free net cash flow as a bonus for 2019 and for each subsequent 

year.  

197. Commissions and bonuses are considered wages under the California labor Code 

§§ 200, 201, 202, and 218.  Consequently, Corporate Defendants have failed to pay for work done 

by the required date. 

198. As a result of Corporate Defendants’ failure to pay all of the commission owed to 

Johnson, he has suffered significant damages in an amount to be proven at trial. 

199. As Individual Defendants acted on behalf of Corporate Defendants, they may be 

liable for unpaid wages pursuant to Labor Code § 558.1 and/or California law. 

ELEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Failure to Pay All Necessary Expenditures in Violation of Labor Code § 2802 

(Asserted against All Defendants) 

200. Johnson repeats and re-alleges all of the previous allegations herein by reference. 

201. Labor Code § 2802 provides that an employer shall indemnify his or her 

employees for all necessary expenditures or losses incurred by employees in direct consequence 

of the discharge of his or her duties, or of his or her obedience to the directions of the employer. 

202. As a result of Corporate Defendants policy and practice, Johnson was not 

reimbursed for all of the expenses he incurred for Corporate Defendants’ work, including but not 

limited to travel and mileage costs for owning and operating his personal automobiles.   

203. Corporate Defendants have not paid Plaintiffs in full for the necessary 

expenditures they incurred as required by Labor Code § 2802. 

204. Pursuant to Labor Code § 2802(b), Plaintiffs are entitled to recover in a civil action 

the unpaid balance of all necessary expenditures they incurred in the discharge of their duties. 

205. As a direct and proximate result of Corporate Defendants’ conduct, Johnson has 

suffered damages, in an amount to be proven at trial. 

206. As Individual Defendants acted on behalf of Corporate Defendants, they may be 

liable for unreimbursed expenses pursuant to Labor Code § 558.1 and/or California law. 

// 

// 
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TWELTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Failure to Pay Earned Wages upon Discharge in Violation of Labor Code § 203 

(Asserted against All Defendants) 

207. Johnson repeats and re-alleges all of the previous allegations herein by reference. 

208. At the time of Johnson’s wrongful termination by Corporate Defendants owed and 

were required to pay him substantial commissions, bonuses, and benefits.  

209. Defendants willfully failed to pay Johnson the full amount of wages earned on his 

last day of employment, in violation of Labor Code § 203.   

210. As of the filing of this Complaint, Defendants have failed to pay Johnson the full 

amount of his wages.  Johnson is therefore entitled to all such penalties in an amount to be proven 

at trial. 

211. As Individual Defendants acted on behalf of Corporate Defendants, they may be 

liable for unpaid waiting time penalties pursuant to Labor Code § 558.1 and/or California law. 

THIRTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Failure to Furnish Timely and Accurate Wage Statements 

in Violation of Labor Code § 226 

(Asserted against All Defendants) 

212. Johnson repeats and re-alleges all of the previous allegations herein by reference. 

213. At all times relevant herein, Corporate Defendants failed to issue accurate itemized 

wage statements that properly and accurately itemized the number of hours worked by Johnson 

and the actual payments owed to Johnson thereto, in violation of Labor Code 226(a) and IWC 

Wage Order 5 § 7. 

214. Johnson did not receive an accurate wage statement because commissions he is 

owed were not reflected in his wage statements. 

215. Corporate Defendants knowingly and intentionally failed to comply with Labor 

Code § 226(a) and IWC Wage Order 5 § 7, causing damages to Johnson.  

216. These damages, including but not limited to costs expended calculating his true 

amount of hours worked and the amount of employment taxes not properly paid to state and 

federal authorities, are difficult to estimate.  

217. Therefore, Johnson elects to recover statutory damages of $50.00 for the initial 

pay period in which the violation occurred and $100.00 for each violation in subsequent pay 

periods, pursuant to Labor Code § 226(e), up to the statutory maximum of $4,000.00. 
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218. As Individual Defendants acted on behalf of Corporate Defendants, they may be 

liable for these penalties pursuant to Labor Code § 558.1 and/or California law. 

FOURTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Abuse of Control 

(Alleged against Individual Defendants) 

219. Johnson repeats and re-alleges all of the previous allegations herein by reference. 

220. Individual Defendants had a fiduciary relationship with Johnson individually 

because Individual Defendants collectively exercised majority control over Corporate Defendants 

to the detriment of Johnson, were partners, co-founders, and/or co-joint ventures in Corporate 

Defendants.  Each of these individuals also owe fiduciary duties to each other and to Corporate 

Defendants by virtue of their status as corporate officers and directors of Corporate Defendants.  

Each of these individuals are also in a fiduciary relationship with each other through their status 

as shareholders of Corporate Defendants. 

221. As fiduciaries to Corporate Defendants and to each other, Individual Defendants 

owed a duty to control and influence the firms’ legitimately. 

222. Additionally, at all relevant times, Individual Defendants acted in concert with one 

another and, as a group, acted as a controlling shareholder of Corporate Defendants and assumed 

all duties of a controlling shareholder.  As they assumed such duties, they jointly owed a duty to 

Johnson, as a minority shareholder, to use their ability to control the corporation in a fair, just, 

and equitable manner and refrain from using their power to control corporate activities to benefit 

themselves alone or to the detriment of Johnson or other minority shareholders.  

223. Individual Defendants abused the majority control they exercised over Corporate 

Defendants and their shareholders to harass, discriminate and retaliate against Johnson by 

engaging in the conduct described above, including, but not limited to, failing to pay Corporate 

Defendants wages and commissions; failing to prevent discrimination and harassment against 

employees; paying bribes; permitting a felon to impersonate a licensed public adjuster;  

misappropriating Corporate Defendants funds for their own purposes, including funding personal 

trips, purchasing prostitutes, extravagant parties in strip clubs including lap dances and other 

sexual acts paid for with Corporate funds; and discriminating, harassing, retaliating, reducing the 

terms and conditions of Johnson’s employment with Corporate Defendants, and ultimately 

wrongfully terminating Johnson from Corporate Defendants due to his age, disability, and in 

retaliation for his exercise of his right to oppose harassment and discrimination.   



 

COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR A JURY TRIAL 

- 32 - 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

224. None of these actions were made with the utmost loyalty and in the highest good 

faith towards Johnson, Greenspan, or AIPNW.  Instead, Individual Defendants abused their 

control over Corporate Defendant’s corporate activities to benefit themselves in a manner 

detrimental to Johnson and Corporate Defendants, with the purpose of diminishing the terms, 

conditions, and privileges of Johnson’s role as a corporate officer so much so that Johnson would 

feel forced to resign and sell his ownership stake in Corporate Defendants to Individual 

Defendants at a reduced value. 

225. Individual Defendants’ misconduct alleged herein constitutes an abuse of their 

ability to control and influence Greenspan and AIPNW, for which they are legally responsible. 

226. Individual Defendants’ misconduct alleged herein also constitutes a waste of 

Greenspan and AIPNW’s corporate property by its own directors and officers. 

227. Individual Defendants’ misconduct alleged herein also constitutes a breach of their 

duties as a controlling shareholder owed to Johnson as a minority shareholder. 

228. Individual Defendants are bound by their conduct because Greenspan and AIPNW 

are nothing more than alter ego companies for Individual Defendants. 

229. As a direct and proximate result of Individual Defendants’ abuse of control, 

Greenspan and AIPNW have sustained significant damages. 

230. As a result of the misconduct alleged herein, Individual Defendants are liable to 

the Companies. 

231. Plaintiff on behalf of Greenspan and AIPNW has no adequate remedy at law. 

232. As a direct and proximate result of Individual Defendants’ abuse of control, 

Johnson has also suffered damages as an individual.  Individual Defendants acted in concert to, 

among other things, sideline Johnson’s role in Corporate Defendants due to his age and disability, 

and later wrongfully terminated his employment.  Individual Defendants’ actions, as described 

above, directly and proximately have caused, and continue to cause, Johnson to suffer damages 

in an amount to be proven at trial including loss of income and work opportunities and have 

caused severe emotional distress, anguish, pain and suffering, humiliation, indignity, personal 

embarrassment, and damage to his professional reputation..  

233. As such, Johnson is entitled to damages according to proof at trial. 
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234. In doing the acts herein alleged, Individual Defendants acted with oppression, 

fraud or malice, and in reckless or in willful disregard of Johnson’s rights.  Johnson is therefore 

entitled to punitive damages in an amount according to proof at the time of trial. 

FIFTHTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Breach of Fiduciary Duty 

(Asserted against Individual Defendants) 

235. Johnson repeats and re-alleges all of the previous allegations herein by reference. 

236. A fiduciary duty under common law arises when one individual enters into a 

confidential relationship with another, which may take many forms.  Fiduciary duties are also 

imposed as a matter of law in certain technical, legal relationships, including, but not limited to, 

agents towards principals, partner towards partner, joint venture toward co-joint venture, 

corporate officers and directors toward corporation and its shareholders, and controlling 

shareholders towards minority shareholders.  The duty of a fiduciary requires that one individual 

act with the utmost loyalty and in the highest good faith toward the other in all proceedings 

regarding the scope of the fiduciary relationship. 

237. Individual Defendants are bound by their conduct because Greenspan and AIPNW 

are nothing more than alter ego companies for Individual Defendants. 

238. Individual Defendants had a fiduciary relationship with Johnson individually 

because Individual Defendants collectively exercised majority control over Corporate Defendants 

to harass, discriminate and retaliate against Johnson, and because all Individual Defendants were 

partners, co-founders, and/or co-joint ventures in Corporate Defendants.  Each of these 

individuals also owe fiduciary duties to each other and to Corporate Defendants by virtue of their 

status as corporate officers and directors of Corporate Defendants.  Each of these individuals are 

also in a fiduciary relationship with each other through their status as shareholders of Corporate 

Defendants. 

239. Further, Individual Defendants controlled a majority share versus Johnson’s 

minority share, Individual Defendants owed Johnson a fiduciary duty to (1) avoid using their 

power to control Corporate Defendants’ corporate activities to benefit themselves alone or in a 

manner detrimental to the minority, and (2) to instead use their ability to control Corporate 

Defendants in a fair, just, and equitable manner for the benefit of all shareholders, including 

Johnson. 
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240. Additionally, at all relevant times, Individual Defendants acted in concert with one 

another and, as a group, acted as a controlling shareholder of Corporate Defendants and assumed 

all duties of a controlling shareholder.  As they assumed such duties, they jointly owed a duty to 

Johnson, as a minority shareholder, to use their ability to control the corporation in a fair, just, 

and equitable manner and refrain from using their power to control corporate activities to benefit 

themselves alone or to the detriment of Johnson or other minority shareholders. 

241. Individual Defendants breached the duty of care they owed to Corporate 

Defendants and their shareholders by engaging and/or ratifying in the conduct described above, 

including, but not limited to, failing to pay Corporate Defendants wages and commissions; failing 

to prevent discrimination and harassment against employees; paying bribes; permitting a felon to 

impersonate a licensed public adjuster;  misappropriating Corporate Defendants funds for their 

own purposes, including funding personal trips, purchasing prostitutes, extravagant parties in strip 

clubs including lap dances and other sexual acts paid for with Corporate funds; and 

discriminating, harassing, retaliating, reducing the terms and conditions of Johnson’s employment 

with Corporate Defendants, and ultimately wrongfully terminating Johnson from Corporate 

Defendants due to his age, disability, and in retaliation for his exercise of his right to oppose 

harassment and discrimination.   

242. None of the above actions were made with the utmost loyalty and in the highest 

good faith towards Johnson.  Instead, Individual Defendants engaged in this conduct to control 

Corporate Defendant’s corporate activities to benefit themselves in a manner detrimental to 

Johnson, with the purpose of diminishing the terms, conditions, and privileges of Johnson’s role 

as a corporate officer so much so that Johnson would feel forced to resign and sell his ownership 

stake in Corporate Defendants to Individual Defendants at a reduced value. 

243. Individual Defendants’ misconduct alleged herein constitutes an abuse of their 

ability to control and influence Greenspan and AIPNW, for which they are legally responsible. 

244. Individual Defendants’ misconduct alleged herein also constitutes a waste of 

Greenspan and AIPNW’s corporate property by its own directors and officers. 

245. Individual Defendants’ misconduct alleged herein also constitutes a breach of their 

duties as a controlling shareholder owed to Johnson as a minority shareholder. 

246. As a direct and proximate result of Individual Defendants’ breaches of duty to 

Johnson, Johnson has also suffered damages as an individual.  Individual Defendants acted in 
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concert to, among other things, sideline Johnson’s role in Corporate Defendants due to his age 

and disability, and later wrongfully terminated his employment.  Individual Defendants’ actions, 

as described above, directly and proximately have caused, and continue to cause, Johnson to 

suffer damages in an amount to be proven at trial including loss of income and work opportunities 

and have caused severe emotional distress, anguish, pain and suffering, humiliation, indignity, 

personal embarrassment, and damage to his professional reputation.   

247. In doing the acts herein alleged, Individual Defendants acted with oppression, 

fraud or malice, and in reckless or in willful disregard of Johnson’s rights.  Johnson is therefore 

entitled to punitive damages in an amount according to proof at the time of trial. 

SIXTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Breach of Duty of Care 

(Asserted against Individual Defendants) 

248. Johnson repeats and re-alleges all of the previous allegations herein by reference. 

249. Directors and officers of a corporation owe a fiduciary duty of care to the 

corporation and its shareholders.  Moreover, Individual Defendants had a fiduciary duty of care 

to Johnson individually because Individual Defendants collectively exercised majority control 

over Corporate Defendants to the detriment of Johnson.  The fiduciary duty of care requires that 

a director or officer of a corporation serve, in good faith, in a manner that the director or officer 

believes to be in the best interests of the corporation and its shareholders and with such care and 

reasonable inquiry that an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would use under similar 

circumstances. 

250. Individual Defendants are bound by their conduct because Greenspan and AIPNW 

are nothing more than alter ego companies for Individual Defendants. 

251. The business decisions of a director or officer will generally not violate the duty 

of care so long as the director or officer was disinterested and independent, acting in good faith, 

and reasonably diligent in informing themselves of the facts before making the business decision 

in question. 

252. Individual Defendants at all relevant times herein, were and are directors and 

officers of Corporate Defendants.  As such, Individual Defendants owed a fiduciary duty of care 

towards Corporate Defendants and their shareholders, including Johnson, to act, in good faith, in 

a manner that is in the best interests of Corporate Defendants and its shareholders. 
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253. Additionally, at all relevant times, Individual Defendants acted in concert with one 

another and, as a group, acted as a controlling shareholder of Corporate Defendants and assumed 

all duties of a controlling shareholder.  As they assumed such duties, they jointly owed a duty to 

Johnson, as a minority shareholder, to use their ability to control the corporation in a fair, just, 

and equitable manner and refrain from using their power to control corporate activities to benefit 

themselves alone or to the detriment of Johnson or other minority shareholders. 

254. Individual Defendants breached the duty of care they owed to Corporate 

Defendants and their shareholders by ratifying and/or engaging in the conduct described above, 

including, but not limited to, failing to pay Corporate Defendants wages and commissions; failing 

to prevent discrimination and harassment against employees; paying bribes; permitting a felon to 

impersonate a licensed public adjuster;  misappropriating Corporate Defendants funds for their 

own purposes, including funding personal trips, purchasing prostitutes, extravagant parties in strip 

clubs including lap dances and other sexual acts paid for with Corporate funds; and 

discriminating, harassing, retaliating, reducing the terms and conditions of Johnson’s employment 

with Corporate Defendants, and ultimately wrongfully terminating Johnson from Corporate 

Defendants due to his age, disability, and in retaliation for his exercise of his right to oppose 

harassment and discrimination.  

255. Individual Defendants did not take above actions in good faith to further the best 

interests of Johnson, Corporate Defendants and their shareholders.  Individual Defendants were 

not disinterested or independent, did not act in good faith, and were not reasonably diligent in 

informing themselves of true facts before engaging in any of the conduct described above.  

Instead, Individual Defendants took this course of conduct to benefit themselves at the expense 

and detriment of Johnson, Corporate Defendants and their shareholders, by attempting to force 

Johnson to resign from Corporate Defendants and sell his shares in Corporate Defendants to 

Individual Defendants at a reduced price.   

256. Individual Defendants’ misconduct alleged herein constitutes an abuse of their 

ability to control and influence Greenspan and AIPNW, for which they are legally responsible. 

257. Individual Defendants’ misconduct alleged herein also constitutes a waste of 

Greenspan’s and AIPNW’s corporate property by its own directors and officers. 

258. Individual Defendants’ misconduct alleged herein also constitutes a breach of their 

duties as a controlling shareholder owed to Johnson as a minority shareholder. 
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259. As a direct and proximate result of Individual Defendants’ breaches of duty to 

Johnson, Johnson has also suffered damages as an individual.  Individual Defendants acted in 

concert to, among other things, sideline Johnson’s role in Corporate Defendants due to his age 

and disability, and later wrongfully terminated his employment.  Individual Defendants’ actions, 

as described above, directly and proximately have caused, and continue to cause, Johnson to 

suffer damages in an amount to be proven at trial including loss of income and work opportunities 

and have caused severe emotional distress, anguish, pain and suffering, humiliation, indignity, 

personal embarrassment, and damage to his professional reputation.   

260. In doing the acts herein alleged, Individual Defendants acted with oppression, 

fraud or malice, and in reckless or in willful disregard of Johnson’s rights. Johnson is therefore 

entitled to punitive damages in an amount according to proof at the time of trial. 

SEVENTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Breach of Duty of Loyalty 

(Alleged against Individual Defendants) 

261. Johnson repeats and re-alleges all of the previous allegations herein by reference. 

262. Directors and officers of a corporation owe a fiduciary duty of loyalty to the 

corporation and its shareholders.  Moreover, Individual Defendants had a fiduciary duty of loyalty 

to Johnson individually because Individual Defendants collectively exercised majority control 

over Corporate Defendants to harass, discriminate and retaliate the detriment of Johnson.  The 

fiduciary duty of loyalty requires that a director or officer of a corporation place the corporation’s 

and stockholder’s interests ahead of any other business or personal interests of that director or 

officer. 

263. Individual Defendants are bound by their conduct because Greenspan and AIPNW 

are nothing more than alter ego companies for Individual Defendants. 

264. Individual Defendants at all relevant times herein, were and are directors and 

officers of Corporate Defendants.  As such, Individual Defendants owed a fiduciary duty of 

loyalty towards Johnson, Corporate Defendants and their shareholders to place Corporate 

Defendants’ interests ahead of their own business and personal interests. 

265. Additionally, at all relevant times, Individual Defendants acted in concert with one 

another and, as a group, acted as a controlling shareholder of Corporate Defendants and assumed 

all duties of a controlling shareholder.  As they assumed such duties, they jointly owed a duty to 

Johnson, as a minority shareholder, to use their ability to control the corporation in a fair, just, 
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and equitable manner and refrain from using their power to control corporate activities to benefit 

themselves alone or to the detriment of Johnson or other minority shareholders. 

266. Individual Defendants breached the duty of loyalty they owed to Johnson, 

Corporate Defendants and their shareholders by ratifying and/or engaging in the conduct 

described above, including, but not limited to, failing to pay Corporate Defendants wages and 

commissions; failing to prevent discrimination and harassment against employees; paying bribes; 

permitting a felon to impersonate a licensed public adjuster; misappropriating Corporate 

Defendants funds for their own purposes, including funding personal trips, purchasing prostitutes, 

extravagant parties in strip clubs including lap dances and other sexual acts paid for with 

Corporate funds; and discriminating, harassing, retaliating, reducing the terms and conditions of 

Johnson’s employment with Corporate Defendants, and ultimately wrongfully terminating 

Johnson from Corporate Defendants due to his age, disability, and in retaliation for his exercise 

of his right to oppose harassment and discrimination.  

267. In taking the above actions, Individual Defendants did not place the interests of 

Corporate Defendants and its shareholders ahead of their own business and personal interests.  

Instead, Individual Defendants took this course of conduct to benefit themselves at the expense 

and detriment of Johnson, Corporate Defendants and their shareholders, by attempting to force 

Johnson to resign from Corporate Defendants and sell his shares in Corporate Defendants to 

Individual Defendants at a reduced price.   

268. Individual Defendants’ misconduct alleged herein constitutes an abuse of their 

ability to control and influence Greenspan and AIPNW, for which they are legally responsible. 

269. Individual Defendants’ misconduct alleged herein also constitutes a waste of 

Greenspan and AIPNW’s corporate property by its own directors and officers. 

270. Individual Defendants’ misconduct alleged herein also constitutes a breach of their 

duties as a controlling shareholder owed to Johnson as a minority shareholder. 

271. As a direct and proximate result of Individual Defendants’ breaches of duty to 

Johnson, Johnson has also suffered damages as an individual.  Individual Defendants acted in 

concert to, among other things, sideline Johnson’s role in Corporate Defendants due to his age 

and disability, and later wrongfully terminated his employment.  Individual Defendants’ actions, 

as described above, directly and proximately have caused, and continue to cause, Johnson to 

suffer damages in an amount to be proven at trial including loss of income and work opportunities and 
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have caused severe emotional distress, anguish, pain and suffering, humiliation, indignity, 

personal embarrassment, and damage to his professional reputation.   

272. In doing the acts herein alleged, Defendants acted with oppression, fraud or 

malice, and in reckless or in willful disregard of Johnson’s rights and Johnson is therefore entitled 

to punitive damages in an amount according to proof at the time of trial. 

EIGHTTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Involuntary Dissolution of a California Corporation 

(Alleged against Individual Defendants and Greenspan) 

273. Johnson repeats and re-alleges all of the previous allegations herein by reference. 

274. Scott, Severaid, and Migdal, are shareholders and/or partners of Greenspan.   

275. A court may order the dissolution of a corporation against its will under 

Corporations Code § 1800, et seq.  where those in control of the corporation have been guilty of 

or have knowingly countenanced persistent and pervasive fraud, mismanagement or abuse of 

authority or persistent unfairness toward any shareholders or the corporation’s property is being 

misapplied or wasted by its directors and officers.  Corporations Code § 1800(b)(4). 

276. The dissolution of Greenspan is justified because there is internal dissension 

among two or more factions of shareholders at Greenspan, with Johnson on the one hand and 

Individual Defendants on the other hand, such that Greenspan’s business can no longer be 

conducted with advantage as to any of them. 

277. The dissolution of Greenspan is also justified because Individual Defendants have 

been guilty of or knowingly countenances persistent and pervasive fraud and mismanagement of 

Greenspan, abused their authority, acted with persistent unfairness towards Johnson, and wasted 

Greenspan’s property, by ratifying and/or engaging in the conduct described above, including, 

but not limited to: failing to pay Greenspan’s wages and commissions; failing to prevent 

discrimination and harassment against employees; paying bribes; permitting Fratkin, a convicted 

felon, to unlawfully impersonate a licensed public adjuster despite being ineligible to ever obtain 

a license to do so; misappropriating Greenspan’s funds for their own purposes, including funding 

personal trips, purchasing prostitutes, extravagant parties in strip clubs including lap dances and 

other sexual acts paid for with Corporate funds; and discriminating, harassing, retaliating, 

reducing the terms and conditions of Johnson’s employment with Greenspan, and ultimately 

wrongfully terminating Johnson from Greenspan due to his age, disability, and in retaliation for 

his exercise of his right to oppose harassment and discrimination. 
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278. Accordingly, it is necessary for the protection of Greenspan and Johnson’s 

interests that Greenspan be dissolved and wound up immediately. 

NINETEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Unjust Enrichment 

(Alleged against all Defendants) 

279. Johnson repeats and re-alleges all of the previous allegations herein by reference. 

280. By their wrongful acts and omissions described above, Individual Defendants were 

unjustly enriched at the expense of and to the detriment of Greenspan and AIPNW. These 

wrongful acts included, but were not limited to: failing to pay Corporate Defendants wages and 

commissions; paying bribes; permitting a felon to impersonate a licensed public adjuster;  

misappropriating Corporate Defendants funds for their own purposes, including funding personal 

trips, purchasing prostitutes, extravagant parties in strip clubs including lap dances and other 

sexual acts paid for with Corporate funds; and ultimately wrongfully terminating Johnson from 

Corporate Defendants in retaliation for his exercise of his right to oppose Individual Defendants’ 

conduct. 

281. As a direct and proximate result of Individual Defendants’ unjust enrichment, 

Johnson has also suffered damages as an individual.  Individual Defendants’ actions, as described 

above, directly and proximately have caused, and continue to cause, Johnson to suffer damages 

in an amount to be proven at trial including loss of income and work opportunities and have 

caused severe emotional distress, anguish, pain and suffering, humiliation, indignity, personal 

embarrassment, and damage to his professional reputation. 

282. Johnson, as a shareholder and representative of Greenspan and AIPNW, seeks 

restitution from these defendants, and each of them, and seek an order of this Court disgorging 

all profits, benefits, and other compensation obtained by Individual Defendants, and each of them, 

from their wrongful conduct and fiduciary breaches. 

TWENTIETH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Accounting of Corporation 

(Alleged against Corporate Defendants) 

283. Johnson repeats and re-alleges all of the previous allegations herein by reference. 

284. The amount of money due from Individual Defendants to Corporate Defendants 

and Johnson is unknown to Johnson and cannot be ascertained without a full accounting of 

Corporate Defendants’ receipts, disbursements, and other pertinent financial information. 
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285. As such, Johnson is entitled to an accounting of each of the Corporate Defendants’ 

accounts and for all moneys Individual Defendants took in excess of what they were entitled to 

draw. 

TWENTY-FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Unfair, Unlawful, and/or Fraudulent Business Practices 

in Violation of Business and Professions Code § 17200, et seq. 

(Alleged against all Defendants) 

286. Johnsons repeat and re-allege all of the previous allegations herein by reference. 

287. The California Business and Professions Code (“B&P Code”) § 17200, et seq. (the 

“Unfair Business Practices Act”) prohibits unfair competition in the form of any unlawful, unfair 

or fraudulent business act or practice. 

288. B&P Code § 17202 provides that “[N]otwithstanding Section 2289 of the Civil 

Code, specific or preventative relief may be granted to enforce a penalty, forfeiture, or penal law 

in case of unfair competition.” 

289. B&P Code § 1703 provides that the Court may restore to any person in interest 

any money or property which may have been acquired by means of such unfair competition. 

290. B&P Code § 17204 allows “any person who has suffered injury in fact and has 

lost money or property as a result of such unfair competition” to prosecute a civil action for 

violation of this code. 

291. B&P code § 17204 allows “any person acting for the interest of itself, its members 

or the general public” to prosecute a civil action for violation of the Unfair Business Practices 

Act. 

292. Beginning in 2018, Defendants have committed acts of unfair competition as 

defined by the Unfair Business Practices Act, by engaging in the unlawful, unfair and fraudulent 

practices and acts described above, including, but not limited to, failing to pay Corporate 

Defendants wages and commissions; discriminating, harassing, retaliating and failing to prevent 

discrimination and harassment against employees; engaging in violations under FEHA; paying 

bribes; permitting a felon to impersonate a licensed public adjuster; misappropriating Corporate 

Defendants funds for their own purposes, including funding personal trips, purchasing prostitutes, 

extravagant parties in strip clubs including lap dances and other sexual acts paid for with 

Corporate funds; and discriminating, harassing, retaliating, reducing the terms and conditions of 

Johnson’s employment with Corporate Defendants, and ultimately wrongfully terminating 
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Johnson from Corporate Defendants due to his age, disability, and in retaliation for his exercise 

of his right to oppose harassment and discrimination. 

293. The acts and practices described above constitute unfair, unlawful and fraudulent 

business practices, and unfair competition, within the meaning of the Unfair Business Practices 

Act.  Defendants engaged in the above conduct for the purposes of reducing Corporate 

Defendants’ value by reducing its productivity and efficiency, so that when Johnson was forced 

to sell his ownership stake, it would come at a reduced cost relative to the potential value of 

Corporate Defendants, thereby artificially reducing the price of Corporate Defendants shares and 

committing fraud on the market. 

294. The acts and practices described above have allowed and will allow Corporate 

Defendants to gain an unfair competitive advantage over law-abiding competitors who do not 

seek to unlawfully discriminate, retaliate, and terminate employees on the basis of marital status, 

religion, or political affiliation. 

295. Johnson is entitled to restitution pursuant to B&P Code § 17203 for all moneys 

unlawfully taken from him by Defendants during the four-year period prior to the filing of this 

Complaint. 

296. Injunctive relief is necessary and appropriate to prevent Corporate Defendants 

from repeating their unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent business acts and practices described herein. 

297. Pursuant to the B&P Code § 17203 and/or any other applicable law, Johnson seeks 

an order preventing Corporate Defendants from engaging in an unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent 

conduct, and preventing Corporate Defendants from profiting and benefiting from illegal and 

wrongful acts. 

298. Pursuant to the B&P Code § 17202, Johnson’s success in this action will enforce 

important rights affecting the public interest.  

299. Johnsons takes upon themselves for the enforcement of these laws and prosecution 

of these lawful claims.  There is a financial burden involved in pursuing this action.  Because this 

action is seeking to vindicate an important public right, it would be against the interests of justice 

to penalize Johnson by forcing them to pay attorneys’ fees from any amount recovered from this 

action. 

300. An award of attorneys’ fees is appropriate for this cause of action, inter alia, 

pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 1021.5 and other applicable laws, because: a) this action 
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will confer a significant benefit upon the general public; b) there is a financial burden involved 

in pursuing this action; and c) it would be against the interest of justice to force Johnson to pay 

attorneys’ fees from any amount recovered in this action. 

JURY DEMAND 

301. Johnson hereby demands a trial by jury in this action. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Johnson prays for judgment against Defendants, as follows: 

1. For compensatory damages, restitution and such other damages according to 

proof, including damages from Individual Defendants for the amount of damages sustained by 

Corporate Defendants and Johnson as a result of Individual Defendants’ breaches of fiduciary 

duties, abuse of control, and unjust enrichment; 

2. For injunctive relief, directing Corporate Defendants to take all necessary actions 

to reform and improve their corporate governance and internal procedures to comply with 

applicable laws and to protect Corporate Defendants and its shareholders from a repeat of the 

damaging events described herein, including, but not limited to, putting forward for shareholder 

vote resolutions for amendments to Corporate Defendants’ By-Laws or Articles of Incorporation 

and taking such other action as may be necessary to place before shareholders for a vote the 

following corporate governance policies: 

a. A proposal to ensure that all stock options and warrants granted to executive 

and non-executive employees are properly awarded, valued and administered; and 

b. Appropriately test and then strengthen the internal audit and control functions. 

3. For general damages according to proof, including damages for emotional distress 

and mental anguish; 

4. For punitive damages; 

5. For statutory and civil penalties and damages; 

6. For injunctive relief; 

7. For attorneys’ fees and costs of suit; 

8. For interest, including prejudgment interest at the legal rate; and 

9. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem proper. 

// 

// 
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Dated:  June 29, 2020    CRAVENS & ASSOCIATES 

 

 

 

      By:  ___________________________       

       Daniel J. Cravens 

       Attorneys for Johnson GARY JOHNSON 
 

dgaribaldi
Dan Cravens
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EXHIBIT 2 



 

U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 
 Oakland Local Office 1301 Clay Street 

Suite 1170 N 
Oakland, CA 94612 

(510) 637-3230 
TDD: 1-800-669-6820 

Fax: (510) 637-3235 
1-800-669-4000 

Respondent: ADJUSTERS INTERNATIONAL PACIFIC NORTHWEST, INC. 
EEOC Charge No.: 551-2019-02285 
FEPA Charge No.:  June 14, 2019
 
Gary Johnson 
2425 Heritage Oaks Dr. 
Alamo, CA 94507 
 
 
Dear Mr. Johnson:    
 
This is to acknowledge receipt of the above-numbered charge of employment discrimination against the above-named 
respondent. Please use the "EEOC Charge No." listed above whenever you call us about this charge. The information 
provided indicates that the charge is subject to: 
 

[X] Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Title VII) 

[X] The Age Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA) 

[X] The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) 

[ ] The Equal Pay Act (EPA) 

[ ] The Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act (GINA) 

 
You need do nothing further at this time. We will contact you when we need more information or assistance. A copy of the 
charge or notice of the charge will be sent to the respondent within 10 days of our receipt of the charge as required by our 
procedures. 
 
Please be aware that we will send a copy of the charge to Washington State Human Rights Commission 711 South Capitol 
Way Suite 402 Olympia, WA 98504 as required by our procedures. If the charge is processed by that agency, it may 
require the charge to be signed before a notary public or an agency official. Then the agency will investigate and resolve 
the charge under their statute. If this occurs, section 1601.76 of EEOC's regulations entitles you to ask us to perform a 
Substantial Weight Review of the agency's final finding. To obtain this review, a written request must be made to this office 
within 15 days of receipt of the agency's final finding in the case. Otherwise, we will generally adopt the agency's finding as 
EEOC's. 
 
The quickest and most convenient way to obtain the contact information and the status of your charge is to use EEOC’s 
Online Charge Status System, which is available 24/7. You can access the system via this link 
(https://publicportal.eeoc.gov/portal) or by selecting the “My Charge Status” button on EEOC’s Homepage 
(www.eeoc.gov). To sign in, enter your EEOC charge number, your zip code and the security response. An informational 
brochure is enclosed that provides more information about this system and its features. 
 
While your charge is pending, please notify us of any change in your address, or where you can be reached if you have 
any prolonged absence from home. Your cooperation in this matter is essential. 
 

Sincerely, 
 
_________________________________________ 
Bryan G. Hoss 
Bryan G. Hoss 

Intake Supervisor 
OAKLGOV@eeoc.gov 

Office Hours: Monday – Friday, 8:00 a.m. - 4:30 p.m. 
www.eeoc.gov 
 
Enclosure(s):     

  
  
  
  

 

https://publicportal.eeoc.gov/portal
http://www.eeoc.gov/
http://www.eeoc.gov/


 

WHAT YOU SHOULD DO  

AFTER YOU HAVE FILED A CHARGE WITH EEOC 
 

Please see page 2 for additional important information. 

   Page 1 

➢ KEEP YOUR DOCUMENTS – BOTH PAPER AND ELECTRONIC 

 

Now that you have filed an EEOC charge, you must keep anything that might be evidence related to your 

charge. This includes all documents, communications, and electronic information that are potentially related to 

your EEOC charge, including the harm caused by the discrimination, and all records of your communications 

with the EEOC.  Even if you are not sure whether the information is relevant to your discrimination claim, 

please do not throw it away or delete it. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Why must you keep this information?  It might be evidence related to your charge. We are required by the courts to 

ensure that all potentially relevant information is retained. Please note that failure to keep these records may cause you 

to lose your case, or to lose the right to recover money lost due to the discrimination.  

 

What happens to your information? Your investigator will discuss with you what information is needed by the 

EEOC to investigate your charge.  Information that you provide that happens to be private or personal in nature will not 

be disclosed by the EEOC during its investigation, and if the EEOC files suit on your charge, we will do our best to keep 

such information out of the court proceedings. 

 

➢ WHAT INFORMATION MUST YOU KEEP? 

• Paper documents, such as: 

o Employee manuals, pay stubs, work schedules 

o Letters, memos, your notes 

o Pictures, drawings, charts, whether or not they contain words 

• Electronic information, such as: 

o E-mails, text messages, tweets, and social media posts and pictures 

o Voice messages, video and sound recordings 

o Word processing documents, electronic calendar entries 

• Electronic memory on devices or the devices themselves, such as: 

o Memory on computers, laptops, tablets, cell phones 

o Computers, laptops, tablets, cell phones 

o Do not delete, replace, alter, “wipe,” or “clear” your computer hard drive, electronic 
tablet, or cell phone, and do not change or remove Internet posts, without retaining an 
electronic copy.  If you dispose of any old computers, phones or devices, make sure you 
make and keep an electronic copy of all potentially relevant information on the device.  

• These are some examples and not a complete list.   

• If you have questions about what you should or should not do, please contact your investigator.  

 

 



 

  Page 2 

 
➢ LOOK FOR WORK IF YOU ARE OUT OF WORK 

 

If you lost your job or were not hired due to discrimination, you may be entitled to the pay or wages you 
lost.  However, you cannot receive lost wages unless you can show that you looked for another job to replace 
the one you lost or were denied due to discrimination.  In order to prove you searched for work, you must keep 
copies of all letters, emails, or other evidence of your job search.  If you succeed in finding a new job but it pays 
less than the job you lost, you may be entitled to the difference in pay.  Therefore, it is necessary to keep all 
evidence of your job search even if you find another job.   

In addition to looking for work, you should keep good records of your job search so you can prove that you 
have tried to find a comparable job.  If you are out of work because of discrimination, be sure to save all 
documents and communications, including e-mails, relating to your job search.  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

➢ WHAT ARE RECORDS OF YOUR JOB SEARCH? 

   

The following types of information can prove that you have tried to find work: 
• copies of job applications and resumes 

 
• a list of all the companies you contact about jobs by phone, letter or in-person 

 
• copies of e-mails or letters that you send to or receive from companies where you have asked 

about work or submitted an application 
 

• a list all of the places where you apply and for each one, 
a. the date of the application; 
b. the position you were seeking; 
c. the response you received from your application, such as rejection letters or invitations 

to interview; 
d. whether you were interviewed and the date of the interview; 
e. the results of the interview; 
f. whether you turned down a job offer, and if you did, why 

 
• notes about what you did to look for work (for example, searching the newspaper or Internet or 

contacting employment agencies) and the dates that you conduct the search 
 

• copies of your pay stubs or earnings records if you find another job. 
 

If you have questions about what you are required to do, please contact your investigator. 

 

 

 

➢ KEEP US INFORMED 

Once you file a charge with the EEOC, you 

must tell us if you move or get a new address, 

telephone number, or e-mail address. We may 

need to talk to you to get more information.  If 

the EEOC cannot reach you to get necessary 

information, your charge may be dismissed.  

➢ CALL IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS 

Your investigator will discuss with you the 

documents and other evidence we need to 

investigate your charge. If you have any 

questions, or for inquiries about the status of 

your case, please contact your investigator 

directly or call 1-800-669-4000.  



 

 

EEOC Online Charge Status System Tip Sheet 
 

Find out about the status of your charge of discrimination any time, day or night, using the EEOC Online Charge Status 

System.   The system is available for charges that were filed on or after September 2, 2015. 
 

• Access the Online Charge Status System via this link https://publicportal.eeoc.gov/portal/ or select the “My Charge 

Status” button on www.eeoc.gov. 
 

• Enter your assigned charge number (found in the upper right hand corner on your discrimination charge form) and 

your zip code (as it appears on your discrimination charge form) to sign in.  (If you have provided a new address and 

zip code to EEOC, use the new zip code.) You will be asked to enter a security code displayed in a box on the sign-in 

screen that is provided to assure additional security for the system. 
 

• After you have signed into the Online Charge Status System, you will see the screen display pictured below. The 

numbers on the screen shot refer to the features explained beneath it.* 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

1. A quick view of the stage in the process at which your charge is currently. 

2. The name and contact information of the EEOC staff member assigned to your charge or a note that your charge is 

pending assignment. 

3. The EEOC office (and its address) that is handling your charge. 

4. The specific actions the EEOC has taken on your charge, numbered sequentially, and the date of each action. (hold 

cursor over each action to read further details about the task). 

5. The general steps in the process, with additional explanations that display when you hold your cursor over a colored 

box. 

6. The range of next steps possible in the investigative process, which pops up when the cursor is held over this box. 

7. The flow of the overall investigative process, which comes up when you click on this box.   

8. Ends your session on the Online Charge Status System. 
 

*Not every stage of the enforcement process will display for every charge, as each charge follows the process most appropriate to the facts in the 

charge and the stages of the investigation. 

1 2 3 

4 5 
 

8 6 7 

https://publicportal.eeoc.gov/portal/


 

 

 

Keep in mind that the EEOC process takes time, so there will be gaps between entries about your charge in the Online 

Charge Status System. Even when you do not see any change in the status of your charge, EEOC staff are hard at work.  
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VERIFICATION OF PLEADING (Code Civ. Proc. § 446) 

Case No. CGC-20-583239 

I, GARY JOHNSON, declare: 

I am the Plaintiff in the above-entitled matter.  I have read the foregoing PLAINTIFF’S 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND and know its contents; 

The same is true of my own personal knowledge, except as to those matters which are 

therein stated on information and belief, and, as to those matters, I believe it to be true. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the 

foregoing is true and correct. 

Executed on _________________ in ____________, CALIFORNIA. 

_______________________ 

GARY JOHNSON 

DocuSign Envelope ID: F21E2C80-E598-4633-8710-F87E335D5AD1

6/26/2020 Alamo




